IN THE STATE OF WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

٧.

EXPY SANABRIA, Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF PIERCE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JUDGE GAROLD JOHNSON THE HONORABLE JUDGE FRANK CUTHBERTSON

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Marie J. Trombley, WSBA 41410 PO Box 829 Graham, WA 509.939.3038

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The Trial Court Violated Mr. Sanabria's Federal and State Constitutional Right To Self-Representation.
- B. The Trial Court Erred By Denying The Defense Motion to Suppress Evidence.
- C. The Trial Court Erred When It Made Finding of Fact 4: "The CI reported that 'X' resided in the City of Lakewood, Pierce County, Washington." (CP 131)
- D. The Trial Court Erred When It Made Conclusion of Law 1:

Based on the four corners of the warrant, there existed a sufficient nexus between the residence located atand the defendant's drug dealing activities. The court determined that the warrant alleged that the defendant left from and returned to the residence before and after he sold drugs to the confidential informant on two separate occasions. This is a nexus that establishes probable cause that the defendant had drugs in the residence." (CP 134).

- E. The State Violated Discovery Rules When It Refused To Provide The Police Reports That Served As The Basis For A Warrantless Arrest.
- F. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion When It Denied The
 Defense Motion To Provide The Police Reports That Served As
 The Basis For A Warrantless Arrest.

- G. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion By Denying AContinuance So A Subpoenaed Witness Could Be Brought ToTestify.
- H. The Trial Court Erred When It Ruled The Police Officer Who Found The Incriminating Evidence Was Not A Material Witness.
- I. The Trial Court Erred When It Imposed Legal Financial Obligations Without Inquiry Into Mr. Sanabria's Current or Future Ability To Pay the Imposed Fees.

ISSUES RELATED TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORS

- 1. Where the defendant on two separate occasions unequivocally, knowingly and intelligently requests to proceed pro se in a timely way, was the denial for self-representation a violation of Mr.

 Sanabria's constitutional right under the 6th Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article 1, §22 of the Washington State Constitution, requiring reversal?
- 2. Whether the trial court erred by failing to suppress seized evidence when there was an insufficient nexus between the place to be searched and evidence of illegal activity, so that the search warrant affidavit did not establish probable cause to issue the warrant for the home?

- 3. Whether the State violated rules of discovery when it refused to provide discovery of the police reports that served as the basis for the warrantless search and seizure of Mr. Sanabria?
- 4. Whether the trial court erred by denying the motion to compel discovery of the police reports that served as the basis for the warrantless arrest and search of Mr. Sanabria?
- 5. Whether the trial court erred when it denied a continuance so a law enforcement witness could be brought to testify and then ruled that officer, who found the incriminating evidence, was not a material witness?
- 6. Whether the trial court erred when it did not make any inquiry into Mr. Sanabria's current or future ability to pay before imposing legal financial obligations.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Sometime during the first week of November 2013, a confidential informant (CI) contacted Officer Jeff Martin¹ about making a methamphetamine purchase. The CI said the individual selling the drugs went by the name of "X", and drove a black 2004

¹ Officer Martin is a member of the Lakewood Police Department and at that time was assigned to the Tacoma FBI South Sound Gang Taskforce. (SSGTF).

Acura TL 4-door with beginning license plate numbers of '311'. The Cl also believed that "X" possibly lived in the Lakewood area. He described "X" as a "stalky"(sic) Puerto Rican, about 5'10" tall. (CP 109). In an affidavit, Officer Martin reported that he did some research and found the name "Xavier Martinez" as the suspect, along with a date of his birth, record of recent arrests and felony convictions, and tattoo descriptions. (CP 109).

Officers from SSGTF arranged with the CI to conduct two controlled buys, sometime within the 72 hours preceding November 14. (CP 109-110). The CI placed a phone call to "X" who agreed to meet him. (CP 109-110).

Despite an absence of a record of officers having any knowledge of the actual identity of the person the CI intended to meet, or where he lived, or the registered owner of the vehicle, the affidavit stated "Officer Conlon located X's vehicle...parked in the driveway of a doublewide trailer addressed as..." (CP 109).

The State's later explanation for Officer Conlon's presence outside the doublewide mobile home that day was "Meanwhile, Lakewood Police Officer Sean Conlon *had discovered* X's vehicle

...parked in the driveway of a doublewide trailer addressed as..."² (CP 69). (Emphasis added).

Conlon watched as a Hispanic male left the front door and got into a black Acura. He followed the Acura to the meet location and then followed him on the return trip to the doublewide. (CP 109). The second buy operation, within the same 72 hours of November 14, was completed in the same manner. (CP 109-110). "X" was not arrested.

After the second buy, on November 14, Officer Martin showed the CI a copy of the driver's license photo of Xavier Martinez. The CI could not say whether that picture was a match for the person who had just sold him the drugs. (CP 109; 6/17/14 RP 10).

That same day, based on the above events, Martin prepared an affidavit requesting a search warrant. It requested authority to search the Acura and the interior of the doublewide trailer. (CP 108-111). Judge Orlando signed the warrant. (CP 111).

Around nine o'clock a.m. on November 20, 2013, Conlon and Martin stopped Mr. Sanabria as he drove the Acura toward the

² Production of the police reports that could possibly have detailed how Conlon "had discovered" the vehicle was objected to by the State and the Court ruled they were not necessary for discovery.

doublewide. (6/25/14 RP 355). Officers arrested and searched him. (CP 68; 6/25/14 RP 430). Officer Conlon removed two 1x1 inch baggies that looked to contain methamphetamine and \$781 in various denominations from Mr. Sanabria's pockets. (6/25/14 RP 356). Officers found no evidence in the Acura. (6/25/14 RP 429).

Meanwhile, other officers entered the doublewide to search. (6/25/14 RP 366). Officers later learned Ms. Dany Ann³ owned the Acura and Mr. Sanabria's mother owned the doublewide home. (6/23/14 RP 22, 23). Once inside, Ms. Ann told them they would find a lunch bag sized cooler with drugs in it. (6/25/14 RP 376).

Using the K-9 officer, Conlon located the bag. (6/25/14 RP 369, 436). No other officer was with him when it found it. (6/26/14 RP 546).

On the property sheet and at trial, Officer James said Conlon told him the cooler was found in the carport, but later changed the location to an interior storage room. (6/26/14 RP 527). The cooler contained three 1x1 baggies of suspected methamphetamine and a small scale. (6/15/14 RP 393). Officers also removed documents that had Mr. Sanabria's name on them; however, the property

³ Ms. Ann was charged with possession of an uncontrolled substance and tried as a co-defendant with Mr. Sanabria. (6/17/14 RP 2).

report did not contain information about who found the documents or where they were found. (6/26/14 RP 529). Mr. Sanabria was charged with possession with intent to deliver. He was not charged with delivery of a controlled substance. (CP 177).

1. Request For Self-Representation

About a month after his arrest, on December 26, 2013, Mr. Sanabria sent a letter to the trial court, requesting appointment of new counsel. (CP 12-13). At the next hearing, January 10, Mr. Sanabria told the court he wanted to represent himself going forward. He asked the court to appoint standby counsel who was not his current counsel. (Jan. 10, 2014 RP 3). He had filed several motions with the court in anticipation of representing himself. (CP 8-11; 14-15;18-19).

Mr. Sanabria explained that he was seeing his attorney for the first time that morning, and did not believe he could get a fair trial. He had great concern about not getting to strategize or view any discovery. (1/10/14 RP 4-5).

Without questioning defense counsel Judge Cuthbertson asked if Mr. Sanabria had been to law school or understood the rules of evidence. (1/10/14 RP 4). When it was clarified, again, for the court that Mr. Sanabria wanted to represent himself, the court

said, "He wants to lawyer shop, I think....He wants Jeffrey Toobin or somebody from TV. I don't know what you want." (Jan. 10, 2014 RP 5-6).

The court had an on the record discussion with the State's attorney and then addressed Mr. Sanabria:

"-- and, you know, I am not here to vouch for lawyers, okay? Ms. Melby has been here as long as, if not longer, than I have, okay? She takes a lot of concern and patience and care with her clients, okay? She doesn't give her clients short shrift. I mean, that's her reputation and we all know it. If you want to go pro se, I'll let you go pro se, but I'm going to ask Ms. Melby to remain as standby. I'm not letting you shop for standby counsel..." (1/10/14 RP 8).

The court ultimately denied the motion without prejudice.

Mr. Sanabria agreed to take a week to think about his request.

(1/10/14 RP 8-11).

Two weeks later, Mr. Sanabria filed a motion and affidavit in which he again asserted his right to proceed pro se. (CP 27). The requested hearing never occurred nor did the court rule on the motion.

On April 25, Mr. Sanabria sent another letter to the court, requesting appointment of a new attorney. (CP 147-151). On May 1, Mr. Sanabria again requested the court to appoint new counsel for him. (5/1/14 RP 6). He told the court that at this late date, he

could not represent himself, but did want new counsel. The court responded,

"Okay. But we're not at the beginning. We're at the beginning of trial. That's the issue... The motion is denied. You get a lawyer at public expense. You don't get to lawyer shop. The cases in Washington are clear. You don't get to switch horses at the 11th hour right before trial, so I'm denying the motion." (5/1/14 RP 7).

Mr. Sanabria pointed out that he had asked the court in December for new counsel, and in January he twice requested to represent himself. He reminded the court that his first two motions were denied, and the second motion to represent himself had never been addressed by the court. (5/1/14 RP 8). The court did not appoint new counsel. The trial began June 23, seven weeks later.

2. CrR 3.6 Hearing and Ruling

Defense counsel moved to suppress all the evidence seized during the search of the mobile home. Specifically, counsel argued there was a failure to establish a nexus between the observed criminal activity and the premises to be searched. (4/14/14 RP 3-4).

Counsel pointed out the affidavit did <u>not</u> include (1) the name of the owner or renter of the doublewide; (2) any information as to the registered owner of the Acura; (3) information about the

registered owners of the other cars parked at or near the same mobile home; (4) information about the times at which the two controlled buys occurred, or how far apart in time they occurred; (5) information that would have explained how officers happened to park outside that particular doublewide mobile home; (6) information about surveillance of the home; nor did it list Mr. Sanabria by name. (4/14/14 RP 3-4, 7).

Over defense objection, the court reasoned that despite no information that the doublewide was Mr. Sanabria's residence, or any surveillance other than the two undated occasions officers saw him leave and return to the doublewide, it was reasonable to infer "there was dealing going from inside the home in some fashion, or inside that residence." (4/14/14 RP 17-18). Findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered shortly thereafter⁴. (CP 131-135).

3. <u>Discovery of Police Reports That Provided Probable</u>

<u>Cause to Arrest Mr. Sanabria.</u>

On March 11, defense counsel requested a copy of the police reports detailing the two drug transactions that allegedly served as probable cause for Mr. Sanabria's warrantless arrest.

⁴ Defense filed a motion for discretionary review with the Court of Appeal which was denied. (CP 172).

(3/11/14 RP 7). The State objected and the court denied the motion, stating "[y]ou have access to the affidavit [for the search warrant], but the additional information about the other buys, basically the questions as to the officer's credibility in the affidavit...and the affidavit has already been determined by a judicial officer issuing the warrant. So I'm going to deny the motion." (3/11/14 RP 9-10).

On June 23, after defense counsel received discovery of the copy of the picture shown to the CI to identify "X", the defense requested a *Franks* hearing. It was not until the State had been directed to give the picture to the defense that defense counsel understood that officers showed the picture to the CI *after* the buys, not before them. Counsel argued that the judge who signed the warrant was led to believe that before the buys, police knew who the individual they were targeting was- which would mean they could look up driver license records, or tax records that would indicate where the targeted individual lived. (6/23/14 RP 36).

The court noted the affidavit specifically stated, "We watched as he proceeded back to quote, 'his', close quote, residence." The court went on "An implication being that they knew this was his residence...That turned out not to be the case

necessarily at this point. It may be in some respect a misrepresentation." (6/23/14 RP 51). The court ruled it was not an intentional misrepresentation, and it was immaterial whether officers knew the doublewide was "X"s residence. (6/23/14 RP 52). The court denied a Franks hearing. (6/23/14 RP 53).

The second issue was a motion to compel the State to provide the police report with respect to the controlled buys.

(6/23/14 RP 69). An interview with Officer Martin revealed that officers arrested Mr. Sanabria based on the probable cause from the controlled buys; in other words, he was arrested and searched before officers found contraband in the doublewide. (6/23/14 RP 69). Defense counsel agreed that any information identifying the CI should be redacted. The State objected maintaining the reports "would lead to strategies, the techniques they use, the locations where they set these buys up. It would give information about the buy." (6/23/14 RP 70-71). The court again ruled the defense was not entitled to the police reports that were the basis for the arrest. (6/23/14 RP 73).

4. Officer Conlon

Officer Conlon was subpoenaed by the State and was

named on the State's witness list as late as June 18, 2014. (CP 34 4-347). On June 23, the State's attorney reported he learned Officer Conlon was going on vacation and would not be available to testify. Conlon was going to work to execute a search warrant on June 25th and then returning to his vacation. (6/23/14 RP 89;127). The State's attorney said:

"—and I indicated prior to trial that I was trying to get a contnuance before we got sent here. I talked to Sara [court administarator] and said that I wanted a continuance because he wasn't available, and Judge Cuthbertson said they're sending us to trial."

(6/23/14 RP 127).

Sometime between June 18 and June 23 defense counsel was notified "an officer" was not available, but not which officer. (6/24/14 RP 171-72). On June 23, defense counsel learned it was Conlon. She subpoenaed and requested a continuance. (6/24/14 RP 163). Counsel argued to the court he was a material witness for the case. He was the individual who, without a witness, located the lunch cooler bag during the search. The officer who completed the property sheet listed it as having been found in the carport, but then changed it to an interior area of the doublewide. Counsel argued that without opportunity to cross-examine him, she could

not provide effective representation for Mr. Sanabia. (6/24/14 RP 163-64;172). The court denied the motion. (6/24/14 RP 173).

On June 23, defense counsel for Ms. Ann reported that his investigator called the Lakewood police department and learned Conlon was available and subpoenaed him to testify on June 25th. (6/23/14 RP 126-27). The following day, he reported to the court that he was again told by Lakewood police department that he was available to testify. (6/24/14 RP 162).

The State reported that Officer Conlon was on vacation (6/23/14 RP 127). The State said:

"...I want Sean Conlon here. And I came back, and at every break I said I've been trying to contact him. Even in the hallway I told Jeff, have you contacted him? No. He's on vacation. He's coming for a warrant. I don't want to say the time of it, but he's going in for a warrant and then he's going back on his vacation. I'm trying to get him here, but all accounts right now he's not coming in. But I don't have to call all my witnesses. If he's available to me I can call him. If he's not, he doesn't come in. And I've been saying this from the beginning. (6/24/14 RP 341-42).

The record contains no information about a request for a continuance by the State. The court denied the defense motion to alert the jury that Officer Conlon had been subpoenaed but declined to obey it. Over defense objection the court ruled that Officer Conlon was not a material witness. (6/26/14 RP 524). In

later testimony, Officer Martin reported that Officer Conlon had been at work on the day he was called to testify. (6/25/14 RP 431).

5. Verdict and Sentencing

Mr. Sanabria was convicted of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver. (CP 286-87). The court imposed the statutorily mandated fees, and included a \$500 court appointed attorney fee. (CP 329). Mr. Sanabria reminded the court he was indigent and the court responded, "Your challenge is actually - - and I'm sure counsel can talk to you about it, but I think your challenge to ability to pay LFOs are probably the timing." (9/11/14 RP 693).

On December 16, 2014, Mr. Sanabria filed a motion to terminate the legal financial obligations (RCW 10.01.160(4)), citing no present or likely future ability to pay the LFOs and imposition of them would place an undue burden on the defendant and his family. (CP 350-353). The motion was denied. (CP 354). This appeal follows. (CP 319).

III. ARGUMENT

A. The Trial Court Violated Mr. Sanabria's Constitutional Right To Self-Representation.

1. Standard of Review

A request for pro se status is a waiver of a constitutional right to counsel, and denial is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *In re Personal Restraint of Rhome*, 172 Wn.2d 654, 668, 260 P.3d 874 (2011). Discretion is abused if it is manifestly unreasonable, rests on facts unsupported by the record, or was reached by applying an incorrect legal standard. *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003).

2. Mr. Sanabria Had A Constitutional Right To Represent Himself.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution grants a criminal defendant the right to represent himself at trial.

Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 816, 95 S.Ct. 2525, 45 L.Ed.2d 562 (1975). Similarly, Article 1, §22 of the Washington Constitution provides, in relevant part, "in criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right to appear and defend in person, or by counsel..." unequivocally granting an accused the constitutional right to self-representation. (Emphasis added). State .

Kolocotronis, 73 Wn.2d 92, 97, 436 P.2d 774 (1968); State v. Silva, 107 Wn.App. 605, 618, 27 P.3d 663 (2001).

Although courts are instructed to presume against the waiver of counsel, improper rejection of the right to self-representation

P.3d 714 (2010). The grounds allowing a court to deny a defendant the right to self-representation are limited: the request must be unequivocal, timely, voluntary, and made with a general understanding of the consequences. *Id.* at 504-05. The relevant question in deciding whether to grant a motion for self-representation is not whether the defendant has the skill or ability, but rather, whether his waiver is valid. *Godinez v. Moran*, 509 U.S. 389, 400, 113 S.Ct. 2680, 125 L.Ed.2d 321 (1993).

Here, at the January 10th hearing, Mr. Sanabria unequivocally moved to represent himself. He told the court that he wanted to represent himself, he was frustrated with his attorney, and wanted standby counsel, but not his appointed attorney⁵. If the demand for self-representation is made well before trial and unaccompanied by a motion for a continuance, the trial court must grant the request as a matter of law. *State v. Barker*, 75 Wn.App. 236, 241, 881 P.2d 1051 (1994).

Moreover, the court is obliged to determine whether the defendant is waiving his right to counsel with "eyes open to the

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