A. ISSUES PERTAINING TO APPELLANT'S ASSIGNMENTS OF

ERROR. 

1. Whether Defendant failed to show that the trial court

abused its discretion in denying his motion to proceed pro
se where that motion was not unequivocal. 

2. Whether the trial court properly denied Defendant' s motion
to suppress evidence where the affidavit for search warrant

established, inter alfa, a nexus between the criminal

activity and the item to be seized, and a nexus between the
item to be seized and the place to be searched, and hence, 

established probable cause for the search warrant based

thereon. 

3. Whether Defendant failed to show that the trial court

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE. 

1. Procedure

On November 21, 2013, the State charged Expy Sanabria, 

hereinafter referred to as " Defendant," by information with unlawful

possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver, 

methamphetamine in count I and unlawful possession of a controlled

substance with intent to deliver, marijuana in count III. CP 1- 2. 1 See CP 3- 

4. The information listed Dany Ann, cause number 13- 1- 04476- 7, as a co- 

defendant. CP 1. 

On December 26, 2013, Defendant filed a letter with the superior

court expressing his dissatisfaction with his assigned trial counsel, stating

that there was " a [ m] ajor conflict[,]" and " askingfor New Counsel that

will work effectively on [ his] case." CP 12- 13 ( emphasis added). 

Then, at a January 10, 2014 hearing, Defendant who appeared with

his court-appointed counsel, orally moved the court to allow him to

proceed pro se, and to have stand- by counsel, other than his then

currently -assigned defense counsel, appointed. 01/ 10/ 14 RP 2- 9.2

The information did not include a " Count II." See CP 1- 2. 

Z The verbatim report of proceedings consists of six consecutively -paginated volumes
titled " Trial," followed by the volume number, which are herein cited in the form: RP
Page Number]. The remaining volumes are cited in the form: [ Date of Proceeding] RP
Page Number]. 
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The court ruled as follows: 

If you want to go pro se, I' ll let you go pro se, but I' m

going to ask [ your already -appointed defense counsel] to
remain as standby. I' m not letting you shop for standby
counsel. If you don' t want to accept her advice or

assistance, don' t. 

01/ 10/ 14 RP 9. 

The court continued

I' ll give you a little bit to think about it, but, you know, you

go pro se at your own risk. You, I think, lessen the chance

of getting — I mean, it will be a fair trial, but in terms of an

effective defense, I think you lessen it if you try to go pro
se. 

Do you want to think about it? 

01/ 10/ 14 RP 10. The defendant asked how much time he had to do so, and

the court informed him the trial was being continued. 01/ 10/ 14 RP 10. The

court ultimately stated, 

I' m going to deny the motion without prejudice at this time. 
Think about it, okay? And " without prejudice" means if
you decide in a week that you just got to do it, then you can

come back and try to do it. I don' t want you to jam yourself
up, though, and I think you' re getting ready to hurt
yourself. 

01/ 10/ 14 RP 11- 12. 

On March 11, 2014, the court heard Defendant' s motion to compel

discovery, including discovery of police reports detailing the two
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controlled drug buys described in the complaint for search warrant. 

03/ 11/ 14 RP 2- 5, 7, 9. The State argued that the reports contained

information that would reveal the identity of the informant" and that

because the buys aren' t charged" crimes, the reports were irrelevant to

the instant case. 03/ 11/ 14 RP 8. The court denied the motion. 03/ 11/ 14 RP

9- 10. Defendant made this motion again when the case was called for trial

on June 23, 2014, RP 67- 72, and the court denied it again. RP 73. 

Defendant also moved the court to compel discovery of a vehicle

registration and a suspect photograph shown to the confidential informant

who conducted the controlled buys. 04/ 16/ 14 RP 2- 8. The court denied the

motion with respect to the registration, but granted it with respect to the

photograph. 04/ 16/ 14 RP 8- 12. 

On April 14, 2014, Defendant moved to suppress evidence found

in the residence because, he argued, the affidavit for the search warrant

fail[ ed] on its face to establish probable cause because it d[ id] not

establish a factual nexus between the observed criminal activity and the

searched premises." CP 34- 60; 04/ 14/ 14 RP 2- 9, 13- 16. Alternatively, he

moved for a hearing pursuant to Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. 

Ct. 2674, 57 L. Ed. 2d 667 ( 1978). 04/ 14/ 14 RP 2- 9, 13- 16; CP 34- 60. See
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06/ 17/ 14 RP 7- 11. The trial court found that because the defendant went to

the two controlled buys directly from the residence in question, made the

sales, and returned to that residence immediately afterwards, " there was

dealing going on inside the home in some fashion," and " a nexus between

the criminal conduct and th[ e] residence [ searched]." 04/ 14/ 14 RP 17; CP

131- 35. See 04/ 16/ 14 ( Johnson) RP 2- 4. The court therefore denied the

motion to suppress. 04/ 14/ 14 RP 17; CP 131- 35. See 04/ 16/ 14 ( Johnson) 

alim, 

It also denied Defendant' s motion for a Franks hearing because

there is no showing of any sort of deliberate misconduct or reckless

disregard of the truth." 04/ 14/ 14 RP 17; CP 131- 35. See 04/ 16/ 14

Johnson) RP 2- 4. 

Defendant moved for discretionary review of the court' s denial of

his motion to suppress and for a Franks hearing, CP 141- 46, but this

Court denied that motion. CP 172

On June 23, 2014, the case was called for trial, along with that of

co- defendant Ann. RP 3. The court conducted a hearing pursuant to CrR

3. 5 on the admissibility of Ann' s statements to police, RP 5- 29, at which

Lakewood Police Officer Jeff Martin testified, RP 5- 24, and held that
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those statements were admissible at trial. RP 29; CP . See 06/ 25/ 14am RP

24-26. 

Defendant made another motion for a Franks hearing, RP 30- 34, 

41- 47, but the court found it was " not persuaded" that there was " an

intentional misrepresentation" in the search warrant affidavit and denied

the motion. RP 51- 53; CP 157- 69. See CP 8- 11. 

Defendant then moved to sever his trial from that of his co- 

defendant arguing the co- defendant' s statements, even if redacted, would

be prejudicial, RP 53- 59, but the court found that the statements at issue

did " not directly incriminate[ e D] efendant," and denied the motion. RP

59- 64. 

The State filed an amended information, which eliminated count

III, CP 177, see RP 57, 64- 66, and the court arraigned Defendant on that

amended information. RP 122- 23. 

25. 

The court heard motions in limine. RP 73- 75, 303- 38, 344- 49, 416- 

The court heard the State' s proffer to authenticate and ultimately

admit a recording of a telephone conversation in which Defendant

participated while in jail, RP 93- 117, at which Jail Safety Officer Don
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Carrs testified, RP 94- 112. It held that the recording was authentic for

purposes of admissibility at trial. RP 117- 21. 

A venire was selected and sworn, and the parties conducted voir

dire and selected a jury. RP 121, 123- 25, 128- 56, 173- 265, 271- 75, 276- 90

peremptory challenges), 290- 92, 342-45. See RP 77- 81. The court then

administered the oath and gave instructions. RP 292- 303. 

Defendant moved to dismiss, or alternatively, for a new venire, 

based on alleged prosecutorial misconduct during voir dire, but those

motions were denied. RP 266- 70. 

Defendant later moved to dismiss, again based on prosecutorial

misconduct in allegedly failing to provide timely discovery of documents

seized from the residence searched, RP 397- 414. The court did not

dismiss, but ruled that documents bearing the address of the residence

searched be redacted to eliminate that address or excluded from evidence. 

RP 414- 16, 425- 26. 

The State subpoenaed Officer Sean Conlon, but he, with the

exception of coming to work to serve a search warrant one morning, was

on vacation for his daughter' s wedding at the time of the trial. RP 125- 27, 

307-08, 341, 431, 510-25. During voir dire, Defendant moved to continue
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or recess the trial to secure the presence of Conlon, despite not issuing a

subpoena until after the case was called for trial .3 RP 162- 63, 165- 73, 308- 

09. The court denied the motion, RP 173, and ultimately found that

Conlon' s testimony would not be material because Defendant made " no

showing that the evidence he would provide is anything different than

what' s in front of the jury already in the first place or would counter

anything that the jury has already that the jury is entitled to hear." RP 523- 

26, 558. The defendant announced his intention to call the person who

served Conlon' s office with a subpoena, but the court excluded such

testimony. RP 551- 59. 

The parties gave their opening statements. 06/25/ 14am RP 3. 

The State called Forensic Scientist Mark Strongman, 06/25/ 14am

RP 3- 24, Lakewood Police Investigator Jeffrey C. Martin, 06/ 25/ 14am RP

26- 44, RP 350- 70, 374- 96, 426- 39, Pierce County Corrections Deputy

Donald Carn, RP 439- 65, and Lakewood Police Officer Jeremy James, RP

470- 550. 

The State then rested. RP 570. 

3 The court signed Defendant' s subpoena for Officer Conlon on June 24, 2015. RP 308; 

CP 272-73. 
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Defendant Ann moved to dismiss for insufficient evidence, but that

motion was denied. RP 576- 85. Defendant also moved to dismiss for lack

of sufficient evidence of intent to deliver, RP 585- 87, and the court denied

this motion, as well. RP 587- 88. Neither Defendant presented a case. See

RP 559, 570, 601. 

The parties discussed proposed instructions to the jury. RP 160, 

559-69, 571- 76, 588- 89. See CP 246- 71. The court took the parties' 

exceptions to its proposed instructions, RP 589-97, and read its final

instructions to the jury. RP 601- 02, 652- 55; CP 288- 312. 

The parties then gave their closing arguments. RP 602-21 ( State' s

closing argument); RP 621- 32 ( Defendant' s closing argument); RP 633- 43

Co -Defendant Ann' s closing argument); RP 643- 52 ( State' s rebuttal

argument). 

On June 27, 2014, after asking a question, RP 664- 72, the jury

returned a verdict of guilty as charged in the amended information. RP

672- 77, CP 286. 

On September 11, 2014, the court sentenced Defendant to a

standard range sentence of 70 months in total confinement, and 12 months

in community custody. CP 325- 38. The State asked that the court impose

1, 300 as recoupment for the services of Defendant' s court-appointed
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attorney, RP 689, but Defendant objected to this, RP 691- 92, and the court

reduced it to $ 500, finding that "$ 1, 300 seems excessive in this particular

case for DAC." RP 693; CP 329. 

Defendant filed a timely notice of appeal the same day he was

sentenced. CP 319. See RP 694- 95. 

2. Facts

On November 30, 2013, Lakewood Police served a search warrant

on a trailer used as a residence, located at 3301 80`h Street Court South, 

No. 63 in Lakewood, Washington, and on a 2004 Acura TL automobile. 

RP 350- 52. 

At about 9: 00 that morning, an entry team staged near the

residence, and Lakewood Police Investigators Martin and Conlon, using

an unmarked Chevrolet Tahoe, conducted surveillance of the residence

itself. RP 353. Martin and Conlon circled the block around the residence, 

and as they were on their way out of the horseshoe -shaped driveway of the

residence, saw an Acura TL driving towards them. RP 354. 

They stopped the vehicle within 50 to 100 feet of the residence, 

and contacted Defendant, who was driving that vehicle. RP 354- 55, 430. 

Defendant was detained, and Martin and Conlon searched his person. RP
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355- 56, 430. They found two one- half to one -inch by one -inch Ziploc

baggies of methamphetamine in Defendant' s " right front coin pocket[,]" 

RP 355- 56, and $781. 00 in cash. RP 357- 61, 428, 490- 1; Exhibit 46. The

baggies themselves were black in color with a design consisting of gold - 

colored skulls on their front sides, and contained crystal

methamphetamine, or crystal " meth." RP 356, 360. See 06/25/ 14am RP

30- 39. The cash was in denominations of hundreds, fifties, twenties, tens, 

fives, and ones. RP 357. The investigators searched the Acura, but found

nothing additional of evidentiary interest inside. RP 357, 429. 

Specifically, investigators did not find a pipe, a lighter, tubing, foil, 

or matches on Defendant or in the vehicle he was driving. RP 357- 58. 

After Defendant was searched, the entry team was ordered up to

the residence, and knocked and announced. RP 365- 66, 473. They

received no response, and gained entry through an unlocked door. RP 365- 

66, 473- 74. Co- defendant Ann was found inside the residence, read the

Miranda' warnings, and interviewed. RP 366- 67, 474. She confirmed that

she resided in the residence and that there were " drugs" in the house. RP

367, 384. Ann told Investigator Martin that these drugs were stored in a

4 See Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 ( 1966). 
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cooler inside the trailer. RP 367- 68. Ann did not display any signs of drug

use. RP 433. 

Investigator Conlon handled a search dog that found a cooler

matching Ann' s description inside the residence. RP 368- 70, 376, 389- 90, 

428, 436; Exhibit 34. It was in the utility/storage / washroom of that

residence. RP 539. Police found methamphetamine inside the cooler. RP

391- 93. They found three small baggies of methamphetamine, empty

baggies of the same nature as the baggies containing methamphetamine, 

and two spoons. RP 376- 77, 393, 475, 491- 95, 500; Exhibit 37, 41. The

baggies were the same as those found on Defendant, including, apparently, 

the design printed on them. RP 377- 79. Investigator Martin testified that

designs of this sort are sometimes helpful in identifying a particular

dealer' s product. RP 378- 39. 

Three digital scales were also found inside the residence. RP 503- 

07; Exhibit 42, 43, 44. 

Police found a half of a box of Remington .380 -caliber, hollow - 

point ammunition in the house, in the same area as the cooler and

suspected methamphetamine. RP 379- 82, 501- 03; Exhibit 45. 
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All of these items were associated with drug dealing. RP 437- 38. 

Martin, who had training and experience, among other things, as a drug

recognition expert, testified that crystal meth is smoked, and that users of

that substance will typically have a smoking device or pipe and a lighter in

their possession. 06/ 25/ 14am RP 30- 39. People who smoke crystal meth

also sometimes use tin foil in lieu of a pipe. RP 38. 

Users themselves tend to have heavy calluses on their fingertips, 

and sometimes black smudges from the smoke itself. RP 3 7. Their

fingertips are often " very tor[n] up." RP 37. Users also often exhibit

chapped or burnt lips, often in " a crescent moon" shape, and chapped

nostrils from the intense heat of the smoke. RP 37. As a result users

sometimes utilize surgical tubing, towels, glows, and other " protectants" 

from the heat. RP 37- 38. 

On the other hand, people who sell illicit drugs tend to have, in

addition to the drugs themselves, packaging material, such as one -inch -by - 

one -inch Ziploc baggies, scales, a cutting agent, such as baking soda, cash, 

and weapons to protect themselves and their drugs. RP 41- 44. 

Finally, police found documents related to Ann and Defendant

inside the trailer, including two temporary and one permanent Washington
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State driver' s license issued to Defendant, RP 382- 86, and documents and

photographs of Defendant. RP 394- 96, 426- 27, 507- 09, 534- 35. 

Lakewood Police Officer Jeremy James logged, collected, and

transported the evidence collected from Defendant and the residence to the

Lakewood Police Department, where it was logged into the police

department' s evidence system. RP 477- 79, 528. He also noted where each

piece of evidence was found and who found it. RP 525. 

Defendant' s mother was found to own the trailer. RP 429. 

CD Recordings of two telephone calls, made November 20, 2013

one at 11: 25 a.m. and one at 1: 21 p.m., both initiated by Defendant from

the jail, were admitted and published to the jury. RP 446- 52, 463- 64; 

Exhibit 37A. 

Between March 3 and 11, 2014, Mark Strongman, a forensic

scientist with the Washington State Patrol crime laboratory, tested 0. 17

grams of a " crystal material" contained in a Ziploc bag and 0.39 grams of

crystalline material" in a second bag, both recovered from Defendant on

the day of the search, and found that both contained methamphetamine. 

06/25/ 14am RP 4, 9- 16. See RP 361- 62. 
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C. ARGUMENT. 

1. DEFENDANT FAILED TO SHOW THAT THE

TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN

DENYING HIS MOTION TO PROCEED PRO SE, 

BECAUSE THAT MOTION WAS NOT

UNEQUIVOCAL. 

The sixth and fourteenth amendments to the United States

Constitution guarantee that a criminal defendant must be afforded the right

to the assistance of counsel." State v. Hahn, 106 Wn.2d 885, 889, 726

P. 2d 25 ( 1986). " In Faretta[ v. California, 422 U. S. 807, 95 S. Ct. 2525

1975)], the United State Supreme Court held that the Sixth Amendment

to the United States constitution, applicable to the states by the Fourteenth

Amendment, guarantees that a defendant in a criminal trial also has a

constitutional right to waive the assistance of counsel and represent

himself." Hahn, 106 Wn.2d at 889 ( citing Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 

807, 95 S. Ct. 2525 ( 1975)). 

Similarly, the State Supreme Court has found that Article I,

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